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Foreword by the Vice Chancellor
This has been another excellent year for the University,
both in terms of reputation and financial performance.

The increasing popularity of the University is evident from
the continuing growth in UCAS applications, which rose 
by more than 18 per cent for September 2011 starts, to 
more than 17,000. We have also continued to grow our
international numbers, and now have some 4,250
international students studying in the UK and an additional
2,500 at partner institutions overseas, representing more
than 100 countries overall. The University has increased its
overseas income by 200 per cent over the past three years,
producing an aggregate of £70m over that period.
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This successful recruitment, together with strong financial
management, has enabled the University to invest both for
its current and future students and by 2016 more than
£180million will have been invested over a ten year period,
including the opening of a new Campus Centre in October
2010 and halls of residence in September 2011, both at Park
Square.

This growth and investment comes at a time when the
higher education landscape is changing dramatically. The
University is adapting to ensure it responds to these
challenges.

The Office for Fair Access (OFFA) has accepted our proposed
undergraduate tuition fees of between £6,000 and £9,000 and
the associated access arrangements for entry in 2012/13.
These arrangements demonstrate our commitment to giving
excellent support to both new students and those already
registered.

We have always had the best interests of our students at
heart and have been among the most generous universities
in offering bursaries and scholarships to those most in need
of financial support. We aim to uphold those values as part
of our new Access Agreement.

We are also aware of our wider commitment to the
environment and the need for sustainable development. Our
progress in this area was recognised in the independent
People and Planet Green League 2011, where we were one
of the highest climbers and have been awarded a 2:1 for our
environmental and ethical performance.

This was just one of a number of achievements and awards
during the year. The outstanding performance in international
recruitment received royal recognition during the year, when
the University won the Queen’s Award for Enterprise:
International Trade 2011, one of the most prestigious
honours a business can win.

The University’s record of strong financial performance and
investment over a number of years was also recognised,
when we won the accolade for Outstanding Finance Team at
the Times Higher Education Leadership and Management
Awards 2011.

These successes are only possible thanks to contributions
from staff across the University, and we were therefore also
delighted to be awarded a Gold by Investors in People,
demonstrating just what a great place the University is, for
its staff as well as its students.

Professor Les Ebdon CBE DL
Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive



Report of the Governors for the year ended 31 July 2011

Operating and Financial Review

A New Environment
The past year has seen the beginnings of an enormous upheaval in UK higher education, as first Lord Browne’s
report on university funding and then the Coalition Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review set in
motion changes which will have a profound effect on the sector as a whole, and potentially for the University of
Bedfordshire in particular. Faced with this level of change, it is not surprising that universities are now
considering the continuing relevance and strength of their strategies, missions and plans. Bedfordshire is no
exception, however the University remains fully committed to its access mission, and to widening participation.

This Operating and Financial Review charts progress and achievements over the past year and considers the
risks and challenges ahead, whilst continuing to realise this mission and our ambitions.

Charitable objectives and identifiable benefits
The University puts students at the heart of all it does. This ethos, which
is underpinned by its strategic plan, set outs the University’s vision of a
world where all are able to benefit from transformational educational
experiences.

This vision is underpinned by a mission and charitable aim to create a
vibrant, multicultural learning community, enabling people to transform
their lives by participating in excellent, innovative education, scholarship
and research. This mission is achieved through four strands: customer
care, innovation, investment in systems and long term sustainability.

In delivering its mission, the University provides the following 
identifiable benefits through the advancement of education:
• High-quality teaching and scholarship
• Excellent employment record for graduates
• Strong student support systems
• Links with employers, industry and commerce
• World-leading research.

Beneficiaries
The University’s main beneficiaries are its undergraduate and postgraduate students, who are engaged in
learning and research. Direct beneficiaries also include employers, industry and those who benefit from its
research. Other beneficiaries will include our alumni, parents, our local communities, professional societies and
business organisations, and businesses and organisations that receive our students as volunteers or as
placements or interns.

Achievement of Charitable Objectives
The University’s achievements include the following activities that demonstrate its public benefit:

Teaching

We develop people through their learning and help them to acquire the skills to make a more meaningful and
effective contribution to society through their leadership, their enhanced skills and knowledge, and their
innovation and creativity. This helps to ensure that society, industry, commerce and the public services have
access to people with the right skills and attributes to ensure their success.

In 2010/11:
• We provided higher education of excellent quality to over 23,000 undergraduate and postgraduate students.
• We provided over 1,000 courses that addressed demand from students, employers and society.
• Many of the courses provided serve specific industries and social needs. For example, we trained 1,659 health

and social care professionals and 1,234 teachers during 2010/11. We also provided continuing education and
professional development for over 500 teachers.

Research

We are committed to the discovery and expansion of knowledge and to delivering the benefits of this knowledge
for the benefit of society. We also train and develop skilled and able researchers to contribute to the ongoing
development and capacity of research activity within academia and industry to improve economic, social and
cultural wealth.
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• Our research and the staff that undertake it are acknowledged as world-leading in many areas by many external
agencies, including the government’s Research Assessment Exercise.

• The number of registered research students studying at the University increased by 60% to 329 students in
2010/11 in comparison with the previous year. This demonstrates the increasing attractiveness of research study
options provided by the University to new researchers.

• During 2010/11, the University has demonstrated the public benefits of its research through providing advice
and expertise to government bodies, local authorities and others in areas as diverse as health inequalities, gang
culture and knife crime, child protection, cyber-security, communications policy, media analysis and criminal
justice. This demonstrates the increasing importance, value and impact of the University’s research activity to
sponsors and society in general.

Multi-cultural and Diverse Learning Community

The University aims to create a student body and multicultural learning environment that is balanced and diverse.
This leads to an inclusivity that embraces individual differences, promotes equality and provides an equal
opportunity for all to achieve their full potential, regardless of background or ethnic origin.

In 2010/11:

• Students from over 100 countries studied at the University. This included 987 students from the EU and 7,852
from elsewhere in the world. The University received a Queen’s Award for Enterprise: International Trade in
2011 to reflect its excellent track-record of international recruitment.

• Our student population demonstrated a multicultural learning environment with 42% of our students declaring
themselves to be white, 26% Asian, 14% black, 2% mixed and 13% from other ethnic origins in 2010/11. Our staff
population is also multicultural with 71% declaring themselves to be white, 11% Asian, 5% black, 1% mixed and
12% from other ethnic origins in 2010/11.

• Our student population also demonstrated diversity in terms of age. In 2010/11, 44.8% of our students were
aged over 25 years, 26.6% were aged 22-25 years, 28.5% of our students were aged 18-21 years and 0.1% were
aged under 18 years.

Widening Participation

We encourage social mobility by raising aspirations to enter higher education and we tackle issues of social
inclusion by providing an extensive outreach programme to widen participation in higher education and to
stimulate interest in further study. This includes visits to schools and community centres and strong links with our
partner colleges. 

In 2010/11:
• The University had the largest percentage increase in UCAS applications drawn from the most deprived ‘Super

Output Areas’.
• 60% of our students came from families with a household income of less than £25k per annum.
• 98.9% of our full-time undergraduates attended state schools.
• 47.5% of our full-time undergraduates were drawn from National Statistics Socio-economic Classification 4 to 7.
• 43% of our full-time undergraduates were mature students.
• 8.2% of our students had a declared disability.

Employability

The University aims to ensure that all its students maximise their ability to secure satisfying, meaningful and
rewarding careers and to make an effective contribution to the economic, cultural and social wealth of society.

Our Careers and Employment Service provided a volunteer placement service that enabled students to acquire
new skills, build confidence and gain work experience through participating in projects that make a real difference
to people’s lives. This helps to promote an understanding and commitment to citizenship, the community and
service to society that will equip students throughout their working lives and beyond. For example, 643 of our
students have been accepted as official volunteers for the 2012 Olympics.

In 2010/11:

• Our graduates enjoyed excellent employment rates and demonstrated the transformational experience of
studying at the University – 89% of our graduates were either in work or following paths of further study within
six months of graduation.

• We developed ‘JobSavviGrad’ as a one-stop-shop to enable students to identify and secure employment and
volunteering opportunities. This provides access to over 40,000 opportunities at any one time.

• Our graduate intern scheme placed 160 graduates with local employers to meet specific business needs and
skills shortages within their business.

Student Support

The University aims to ensure that all students receive high-quality support that helps them to maximise the
quality of their learning experience and academic achievement. This, in turn, helps them to make a better
contribution to society and the economy as a result of their studies and experience.
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In 2010/11:

• We opened a new Campus Centre as part of an investment plan for new estate developments to support and
enhance the learning experience of our students and the vibrancy of our learning community.

• New student residential accommodation was constructed. This will enhance the social experience of our
students and provide a high-quality environment for them to live and study.

• The Student Information Desk (SiD) was launched to provide a one-stop-shop for all student services and
support needs. During the year, it dealt with over 100,000 student enquiries and received a national award to
reflect its excellence – the Tribal Enterprise Service Desk Award for Improvements to the Student Experience.

Links with Employers, Industry and Commerce

We provide high quality training, continuing professional development (CPD), consultancy and applicable
research that helps to stimulate and sustain economic growth and tackles social disparities and disadvantages,
that assists and fosters regeneration and community cohesion, and that informs public policy and the
professions. This contributes to the economic, social and cultural wealth of society.

In 2010/11:

• We maintained and enhanced strong, close links with more than 5,000 UK companies. These links include the
provision of training, consultancy, sponsorship and applicable research.

• We began the construction of a Postgraduate and CPD Centre that will serve the training and development
needs of the local and regional economy and improve the learning experience of our postgraduate students. 

• Many of our courses are accredited by professional bodies and we offer an employer-focussed curriculum that
is specifically designed in conjunction with employers to meet the needs of industry and to maximise the
employability skills of our students.

• We support small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs) and start-up companies and are committed to
assisting fledgling businesses by providing free lectures such as the Basics of Building a Business series –
offering entrepreneurs the chance to learn essential business skills.

• We provided 10,116 learner days through CPD courses.

Other public benefits

The University has an economic impact that is worth more than £300 million to the local economy. We have a
strong ‘town and gown’ relationship and meet regularly with representatives from the town councils to work
together to improve our environment as a place to live, work and study. The University is also committed to
playing a meaningful role in its local communities by developing partnerships which benefit those who live
within the community and the University. The University supports a range of community activities, including the
Dame Kelly Holmes Legacy Trust, Luton Carnival, the Bedford River Festival and the Milton Keynes Science
Festival. Its theatre and sports facilities are available for public use.

Tackling Harm and Detriment
The University does not believe that any detriment or harm arises from its activities. It has a well publicised
policy for handling and resolving student complaints and a robust policy of research ethics. The University also
has an environmental strategy and associated policies that promote sustainability and the protection of the
environment across the entire breadth of its activities. For example, we have specific policies on energy
reduction and on recycling. All new buildings are expected to achieve BREEAM ‘very good’ or ‘excellent’
standards and existing buildings are refurbished to improve their environmental efficiency.

Incidental Private Benefits
The University has policies to deal with activities that may lead to incidental private benefits. Private consultancy
is not permitted by University staff. Once concluded, all research completed by staff is placed in the public
domain, unless stipulated otherwise in the contract.

Tackling Barriers
The University offers excellent, innovative education and research to all who are able to demonstrate that they
have the required attributes to benefit from these activities. Like all higher education providers, the University is
obliged to charge tuition fees but offers a generous bursary scheme and scholarships for those who face
difficulty meeting these fees and/or living costs. It also directs students and helps them to identify other sources
of financial support such as student loans. Specific help is provided to disabled students to enable them to apply
for disabled student allowances and a range of services, equipment and specialist software for disabled students
is available within the University to support their learning. In 2011, the University received ‘positive about
disabled people’ status from Jobcentre Plus.

All prospective students are alerted to the availability of financial support, either through our own scholarship
and bursary schemes or through external sources of support such as student loans. In 2010/11, we distributed
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£3.3million in bursaries to support 6,864 students and scholarships totalling £0.3million to support 425 students
who may otherwise have been unable to meet their tuition fees and/or living costs.

The University applies no geographical restrictions to its activities and students and staff are recruited from
across the UK and internationally. The University delivers provision to students based in the UK and in other
countries.

Academic excellence
The University has an excellent academic reputation, as recognised by the following:

• The Quality Assurance Agency, who expressed full confidence in the University’s
processes for assuring quality and in its standards in their most recent visit. A
number of activities were commended as points of good practice.

• The Graduate Teacher Programme was rated as outstanding by Ofsted in its most
recent visit.

• The University was commended in the most recent Research Assessment Exercise
for its world-leading and internationally excellent research in a number of fields
including social work, sport, tourism and leisure, computer science and business
and management studies.

• A number of University staff have received National Teaching Fellowships for
outstanding contributions to teaching and learning.

These judgements on our teaching and learning and on our research have served to reinforce the growing
reputation of the University. The growing awareness of the good quality and relevance of the University’s work
is reflected in increased student recruitment and applications.

Operating Highlights and Academic Review

Student recruitment

Applications to study at the University have more than doubled since 2007/08, a level of growth far in excess of
that seen by other similar institutions. There are now more than five applicants competing for each place
available and although the University was granted a small increase in its permitted recruitment of UK and EU
full-time undergraduate students, it has again been forced to turn away many well qualified applicants. The
University remained within its allocated cap level for 2010/11.

Notwithstanding the restrictions on UK and EU undergraduate recruitment, the University was again able to
increase its overall student numbers. The total number of students registered for University degrees exceeded
23,000 for the first time, with all faculties showing higher levels of recruitment. This milestone has been achieved
by continued strength in recruitment of both international students and part-time UK and EU students. Both the
February and May recruitments of international students exceeded expectations, despite adverse press comment
regarding new restrictions on immigration and post-study work visas.

Student satisfaction

The National Student Survey 2011 showed increased overall satisfaction amongst students of the University,
with improving scores for the student experience and for academic support in particular. The University’s high
standards of teaching, facilities, resources and personal development all drew favourable comment.

The investment in the SiD support service demonstrates the University’s ongoing commitment to putting
students at its heart.

Satisfaction amongst international students is also very high, as shown by the results of the i-Grad survey.

Careers

Vocationally driven courses across the University ensure that employability is at the heart of the curriculum and
there are links to more than 5,500 companies. Many courses are accredited by professional bodies such as the
Chartered Management Institute, the Institute of Biomedical Science, the General Social Care Council and the
Qualified Teacher Status scheme.

The University is also continuing to invest in its already award-winning Careers Service, and this year introduced
two new initiatives:

• The brand-new ‘JobSavviGrad’ online job search tool; and 
• The Higher Education Achievement Report (HEAR) presents a student’s verified course and extra-curricular

achievements, demonstrating their employability, as well as their lifelong and lifewide learning.

The University continues to offer and arrange internships for hundreds of its students, and helps organise
successful events and competitions which give students the chance to impress and get feedback from,
employers. These include the i-Factor Business Concept competition, the Flux National competition and free
lectures on the Basics of Building a Business.
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Awards and achievements

The University’s successes are due first and foremost to its students who enable it to fulfil its mission and make it
such an attractive, vibrant place to study. Helping them to reach their full potential and providing the services they
expect are the academics and support services, and these too have enjoyed success this year, with a number of
awards:

• The Queen’s Award for Enterprise: International Trade 2011 was presented to the University. This is the most
prestigious corporate award that any UK business can win and was given in recognition of the University’s
outstanding achievement in increasing its overseas income by 200 per cent over three years and producing an
aggregate of £70million over that period.

• The University’s Finance Department won the Times Higher Education’s Leadership and Management Award for
Outstanding Finance Department of the Year, going one better than it had in 2010, when it was a runner-up.

• The all-round commitment of the University to leadership, management and development of its staff was
recognised again this year, when it retained its Investors in People accreditation, and enhanced its status to Gold.

Estates investment

The University has continued to invest at significant levels in the whole
range of facilities and activities used by students, from academic provision
to student services and accommodation. This has been made possible
through a combination of the strong recruitment levels seen in the current
and previous years, and prudent financial management, supplemented by
capital grants from the Higher Education Funding Council for England
(HEFCE).

More than £70million has been invested in specific estates projects and
initiatives over the past two years, including phases of the Estates Strategy.

The first phase of the Estates Strategy was the construction of a Campus Centre at Park Square. This Centre,
which opened in October 2010, is the home to all student-facing services for students, including the Students’
Union, as well as a 240 seat lecture theatre, informal learning spaces, and dining areas. It has been designed to a
BREEAM environmental rating of ‘very good’, is naturally ventilated and has 10% renewable energy generation,
demonstrating the University’s ongoing commitment to carbon reduction.

The Campus Centre has now been complemented by Fitzroy Court, which opened in September 2011 and is
adjacent to the Park Square campus. This 579-room accommodation facility provides modern en-suite bedrooms
as well as social spaces in a state-of-the-art environment. Fitzroy Court is the product of the University’s highly
successful partnership with Campus Living Villages (CLV). A second new hall of residence built under this
partnership will open in September 2012, adding a further 280 rooms.

Outside of its core Estates Strategy, the University has also taken advantage of other opportunities to invest in
and develop its estate, and during the year bought three of its leased halls of residence, at a total cost of
£7.5million. These acquisitions give the University a greater element of control over its estate in general and its
halls of residence in particular. One of the acquired halls has undergone a £1.8million refurbishment, and re-
opened in November 2011. This, together with the newly-opened CLV accommodation, has increased the
University’s accommodation capacity to almost 2,000 rooms across the Luton and Bedford campuses, enabling it
to provide many more of its students with the modern facilities they want and expect, enhancing their study
experience and increasing their feelings of being part of the University’s vibrant student community.

The University has also received planning permission for its next development on the Luton Campus, a £16m
Postgraduate and CPD Centre along with significant recladding and internal refurbishment of the University’s
Business School. Construction commenced on the Postgraduate and CPD Centre in September 2011, and the
building is scheduled to open in January 2013; the Centre has been designed to a BREEAM ‘excellent’ standard.

Plans for subsequent phases of the Estates Strategy in both Luton and Bedford are now being developed, having
regard to affordability, the economic and social environment and the need to improve space utilisation, which
improved by 3% during the year.

Diversity and Employment of Disabled Persons
The University is proud of the diverse nature of its employees. Employee recruitment and grading processes,
together with programmes for employee involvement, communication and training are all designed to promote
equal opportunity for all irrespective of age, sex, race, religion, colour or sexual orientation.

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered. If existing employees become
disabled, every effort is made to continue their employment with the University and to arrange appropriate
training. It is the University’s policy that the training, career development and promotion of disabled persons
should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

Employee Involvement and Training
The University of Bedfordshire places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and on good
communication with them. Staff are informed through regular meetings, the extensive University intranet, open
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fora, staff newsletters, staff magazines and other means. Staff are encouraged to participate in formal and
informal consultation at University and unit level, through membership of formal committees and informal
working groups. The University has an Organisational Development and Training Unit that is responsible for
providing technical and general training to all levels of staff and to help build leadership.

Balanced Scorecard
The University uses a balanced scorecard to monitor its
performance across a range of areas and to stimulate action and
influence behaviour in the areas which are seen as the most
important drivers by Governors and management.

The balanced scorecard, which was distributed to Governors on
a regular basis, reported performance across some 40 qualitative
and quantitative measures linked to the ‘New Futures’ Strategic
Plan.

The scorecard is kept under review to ensure that it provides the
most relevant measures, and remains connected to the risks that
are monitored at a corporate and strategic level. As a result of
the most recent review, undertaken during the year, a re-focussed
set of measures will be adopted within the scorecard from
2011/12, although the overarching themes will remain allied to
the four strands of the Strategic Plan: customer and stakeholder
benefit; innovative activity and capacity; long-term sustainability
and systems; and academic standing and profile.

This updated scorecard will incorporate best practice and indicators, as set out in a report on institutional
sustainability issued in 2011 by the Financial Sustainability Strategy Group, a national forum supported by
HEFCE as funder and charitable regulator.

Each of the four current strands shows that the vast majority of performance indicators are improving or stable,
including employability of graduates, student retention, staff retention and staff satisfaction. The University will
continue to address all areas of performance, with particular attention to the small minority of measures which
are currently below target.

Financial Strategy
The University’s financial strategy is designed to ensure the long term sustainability of the organisation, whilst
also providing the bedrock for the strategic capital investments. The principal measures through which the
University seeks to achieve this are:
• Achieving recruitment and income targets
• Controlling pay and non-pay costs relative to income
• Achieving operating and net cash flow targets
• Keeping net borrowings below three times net operating cash flow, whilst also complying with HEFCE and

bank borrowing covenants.

These measures are considered in the University’s normal planning, budgeting and medium term forecasting
cycle, in the development and implementation of its treasury policy, and the planning and execution of its capital
building programme.

Risk analysis
A risk assessment has been carried out against each of the individual strands and objectives set out in the
Corporate Strategy. The key financial risks include:

• Fees and funding. The changes in the funding regime for higher education in England proposed in the
Government’s White Paper have the potential to change the landscape for the whole sector. The
disproportionate reductions in the teaching grant combined with greater uncertainty over the future of
widening participation and other access-related funding streams mean that the University is amongst those
likely to be hardest hit by the changes.

• Sustainable development is becoming an increasing feature of student demand and policy imperatives. Failure
to contribute to the sustainable development agenda is likely to impact upon recruitment and future income.

• The impact of the funding regime changes on student applications from 2012/13 onwards remains to be seen,
however it is anticipated by many in the sector that there will be a decrease in applications, particularly
amongst those sections of the population which have benefited from the University’s access mission and
strategy. Beyond 2012/13 there is a risk that retention levels will decrease as students become concerned about
increasing levels of debt whilst they are studying.

• Proposed changes to the immigration system and the removal of post-study work visas in particular are likely
to affect international recruitment.
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• The University’s largest single cost is staffing and pay increases
and changes in pension legislation therefore have a significant
impact on financial performance. The recommendations of the
Hutton Commission on public sector pensions, and the ongoing
debate regarding reform of these schemes, could have a significant
financial impact on the University.

The University keeps its strategy under regular review in order to
take account of its own performance, as well as changes in the
higher education sector and the broader economy and has
successfully achieved the objectives of the 2007-2012 strategic plan.

Work has commenced on the development of the 2012-17 plan, 
and whilst the University remains committed to access and to
internationalisation, the new plan will need to have sufficient regard
to the context provided by the challenging external environment.

Treasury Management
The financing and liquidity of the University and its exposure to financial risk are managed through the central
treasury function of the Finance Division. The Group’s formal financial strategy, discussed above, sets
minimum liquidity levels in order to ensure that sufficient financial flexibility is maintained.

The security of the University’s cash deposits is of paramount importance, and the Treasury Management
Policy therefore permits accounts and deposits to be held only with UK high street clearing banks.

The secondary consideration with regard to cash deposits is return and the University maintains the majority
of its deposits on fixed term deposits of varying maturities, enabling the maximum yield whilst providing the
ability to take advantage of increases in deposit rates as they arise.

Each year, as part of its normal planning processes, rolling five year financial forecasts are prepared. This
process incorporates a review of capital expenditure and cash generation, thus enabling any necessary future
borrowing requirements to be negotiated well in advance of need.

The University seeks a balance in its borrowings, between those at fixed rates of interest and those at variable
rates.

Financial Review
The consolidated financial performance is summarised as:

2011) 2010)
£m) £m)

Income 124.5) 113.3)
Operating expenditure before FRS17 costs (110.5) (101.9)

Surplus before FRS17 costs 14.0) 11.4)
Difference between historical cost depreciation charge and the
actual depreciation charge for the year on the revalued amount 6.4) 1.6)

Surplus for the year on an historical cost basis before FRS17 20.4) 13.0)
FRS17 adjustment to Income and Expenditure Account (1.0) (0.9)

19.4) 12.1)

Income
The grants which the University receives from HEFCE have been reduced as a result of the Coalition
Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review, with further cuts taking effect from April 2011. The impact on
income for the year has however been offset by the release in full of the £0.8m provision made in 2009/10 for a
potential HEFCE clawback relating to non-completing students, and released in the current year. Adjusting for
this, the recurrent HEFCE grant fell by £0.6m (2.1%) compared to the prior year.

Specific grants from HEFCE fell by £1.1m (12.8%) during the year.

Tuition fee income rose by £9.3m (16.1%) overall. The strongest growth came in international income, which
rose by £6.5m (31.5%), and which has now increased by more than 200% over the past three years. Income
from home and EU students also continues to rise, increasing by £3.1m (12.0%) in the year. This would have
grown even more if the cap on home and EU full-time undergraduate recruitment had not been in place for
2010/11.

The University continued to meet the recruitment targets set in its contracts with Strategic Health Authorities.
After adjusting for one-off items recognised in 2009/10, NHS income rose by £0.5m (5.2%).
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Further development of the University’s research profile and expertise contributed to an increase in income of
£0.4m during the year.

Other operating income rose by £0.9m, principally as a result of growth in revenues from transnational educational
arrangements with overseas partnerships.

Active management of cash balances enabled the University to increase its short-term investment income by 30%,
despite the continued historically low interest rate levels in the UK.

Expenditure
As student numbers have continued to increase so too has the University’s investment in staff to ensure that the
student experience remains at a high level, with an increase of 41 staff during the year, including an extra 38 staff in
academic and student support roles. These higher staffing levels, combined with pay rises and increased employer
pension contribution rates, have led to a rise in staff costs, excluding FRS17 adjustments, of more than 10% for the
second year in a row, matching income growth over the same period.

As staff costs increase, so the need for control of non-pay expenditure becomes ever more important. This control
has restricted the overall increase in other operating expenses to 2.2%, despite inflation rates in excess of 5% in the
general UK economy. Whilst there have been increases in legal and professional fees of £1.3m in agents’
commissions resulting from the additional recruitment of international students and of £0.3m in accommodation
management fees as a result of the partnership signed with CLV in 2010, these have been partially offset by a
reduction of £0.5m in property related costs, including the net effect of the halls of residence acquisitions made
during the year.

Notwithstanding the increase in asset values which arose from the 2010 property revaluation, standard depreciation
at a net level fell by £0.9m, as a result of regularisation of asset replacement cycles as well as disposals made in
prior years.

In addition to standard depreciation, additional depreciation is being charged to those properties which will be
affected by future phases of the Estates Strategy. The net charge, after allowing for revaluation reserve releases, fell
by £1.3m during the year, reflecting the fact that the properties affected by the developments of the Park Square
Campus Centre, Fitzroy Court and the Postgraduate and CPD Centre have now been fully written down. Accelerated
depreciation continues to be charged on the properties which will be impacted by approved future phases of the
Estates Strategy.

Balance Sheet
Fixed Assets

In addition to the significant ongoing capital investment in the Estates Strategy and the acquisitions of the freeholds
of three halls of residence, the University spent £5.0m refreshing and improving its facilities for students and staff.
Major projects included new teaching facilities for pharmacology (£0.5m) and engineering (£0.4m), the
refurbishment of the University’s sports centre (£0.3m), a simulation centre for health students (£0.3m) and a new
radio station facility for the teaching of media students (£0.2m).

Debtors

The increase in debtors reflects timing differences in the billing of commercial debt. In-year student debt was
reduced by 47% through the continued application of strong debt management procedures, and recoveries
continued to be made of debt for earlier academic years. This improvement notwithstanding, the current economic
climate continues to affect debt recovery, and prudent provisions have been retained to reflect the ongoing
collection risk for the debt remaining.

Creditors and Deferred Capital Grants

In 2010 £1.3m was included in deferred income in relation to capital grants attributable to the Campus Centre, which
was at that time still under construction. These balances were reclassified in full as deferred capital grants when the
building was opened in October 2010.

An additional £0.5m was received in capital grants during the year, being the final tranche of grants under HEFCE’s
2008 Capital Investment Framework funding.

Provisions

The University has a number of halls of residence which are held under leases which expire in 2020. Whilst the
properties are maintained to a high standard via a rolling investment programme, there is a strong probability that
additional costs would be incurred if the leases were not renewed, and provisions are retained for each on a
discounted basis to recognise the dilapidations works which may be required. This provision is reviewed annually
to ensure that it reflects current construction costs, expected rates of construction industry inflation and the
University’s cost of capital.

These dilapidations provisions were increased by £0.4m during the year, net of releases of £1.5m relating to
provisions previously held for halls of residence which were acquired during the year and payments of £0.4m in
settlement of agreed liabilities.
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Other provisions released during the year included a vacant property provision of £2.8m for a hall of residence
which was previously leased but which was purchased by the University during the year, and the provision made
in 2009/10 for the potential HEFCE clawback relating to non-completing students, since subsequent discussions
with HEFCE concluded that this would not be levied.

Pensions

The pension deficit reduced from £22.1m to £17.5m due to better than expected asset returns, falling long term
inflation expectations and the reduced assumption for future pension increases, following from the Government’s
announcement in June 2010 that the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) was to be used for public sector pension
increases, rather than the Retail Prices Index (RPI), as previously.

Cash Flow
The continued growth in income, combined with ongoing control of expenditure enabled the University to
generate almost £25m of cash from its operating activities. This has enabled the ongoing programme of
investment, including the Estates Strategy, to continue unabated, and without recourse to external financing.

This level of cash generation will continue to be required going forwards to enable continuation of this
programme whilst at the same time providing the financial stability for the University to weather the funding cuts
and upheaval within the sector.

The operating results and effective cash management have allowed the University to build up its cash balances to
move from a net debt position of £1m in 2008 to net cash reserves of £31m in 2011, notwithstanding the significant
capital investment that has taken place over the same period.

It is the University’s intention to use its cash reserves to progress the Estates Strategy and other investment
programmes and to service all operational requirements.

Outlook
The change in the tuition fees and funding structure of higher education in England, which will take effect from
2012/13, is likely to have far-reaching consequences for the sector as a whole, and for this University in particular.
The University is particularly cognisant of the challenge that lies
ahead, but remains committed to its distinctive widening
participation mission, and to meeting the aspirational needs of
non-traditional entry students.

The short-term outlook is encouraging, with increased
applications for September 2011 starts. The growth in
applications for the University was again ahead of the sector as a
whole and of its direct comparator institutions.

The prospects for the medium-term and beyond are however
much more uncertain.

The move to a more market-led higher education sector, albeit
with limitations, and the consumerisation of students will
necessitate continued investment in facilities in order to maintain
recruitment levels. This will in turn require even more robust
financial management and forecasting. The change in income
cashflow profiles arising from the shift from monthly grant
payments from funding bodies to a less favourable payment
profile from the Student Loans Company will increase the
volatility of, and place a strain on, cash balances.

Increased tuition fees are also expected to have two further consequences: firstly on retention levels, as students
may become increasingly unsettled by potential levels of debt, even after commencing their studies; and secondly,
on their willingness to commit to a full-time programme of study. The new availability of student loans to part-
time students increases the prospect of a shift to greater levels of part-time study.

Together these changes will require the University to remain dynamic in its course provision and in the ways it
supports students, both directly in their studies and pastorally.

Whilst the Government’s proposals seek to introduce a greater element of market economics into the higher
education sector, the continued imposition of a student number cap means that market forces are not being
applied in full. This not only penalises successful universities, but more importantly the tens of thousands of UK
and EU students whose ability to gain a degree are consequently reduced.

Government measures are impacting not only on UK and EU recruitment through the student number cap, but
also on the recruitment of international students who wish to study in the UK. This University has been amongst
the leaders in this market in recent years, but the prospects for further growth are undermined by Government
policies and proposals which seek to limit this wholly legitimate, and temporary, immigration for study purposes,
and by increased competition from other countries.

University of Bedfordshire 10 Financial Statements



Statement on corporate governance and internal controls
Corporate governance covering the year 2010/11, including the period up to
approval of the financial statements
The University’s objectives, powers and framework of governance are set out in its Instrument and Articles of
Government. The University is directed by a Board of Governors who are also trustees, which is unambiguously
and collectively responsible for overseeing its activities, determining its future direction and fostering an
environment in which the institutional mission is achieved and the potential of all learners is maximised.

The Board ensures compliance with the statutes, ordinances and provisions regulating the University and its
framework of governance and, subject to these, it takes all final decisions on matters of fundamental concern to the
institution. The Board recognises that, as a body entrusted with both public and private funds, it has a particular
duty to observe the highest standards of corporate governance at all times. In carrying out its responsibilities, it
takes full account of the Committee of University Chairs’ Governance Code of Practice and Principles, which it
formally adopted in 2005. The Board also takes care to ensure that it complies with the revised Code of Practice 
that was published in March 2009.

The University is committed to demonstrating best practice in all areas of corporate governance. This summary
describes the manner in which the University has complied with the principles set out in the UK Corporate
Governance Code, issued in June 2010 insofar as they apply to the higher education sector. As an independent
corporation deriving its legal status from the Education Reform Act 1988, the University is satisfied that it has
complied with the provisions of the Code in so far as they are applicable.

The University is an exempt charity and is subject to the requirements of the Charities Acts of 1993 and 2006. The
Board of Governors confirms that it has had due regard for the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit
and that required statements appear elsewhere in these financial statements.

The Board of Governors comprises up to 25 members, including the Vice Chancellor. It has a majority of
independent members, who are external and independent of the institution. The Board’s membership includes both
lay and academic persons, including student and staff representation.

The Board as a whole, individual governors and officers of the University are required to conduct themselves at all
times in accordance with the Nolan Committee’s standards in public life which embrace selflessness, integrity,
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. All governors are required to exercise their
responsibilities in the interests of the institution as a whole rather than as the representative of any constituency.
The University maintains and makes publicly available a register of interests of all members of the Board of
Governors, and has established procedures for managing conflicts of interest where these arise.

In May 2005, the Board formally adopted a Statement of Primary Responsibilities. The University does not publish
an annual report but the Statement is published widely, including on the internet, along with the names of key
individuals and a summary of the responsibilities which the Board of Governors delegates to management and
which are derived directly from the Articles of Government.

The roles of the Chair and the Vice Chairs of the Board of Governors are separated from the role of the University’s
Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive. Matters specially reserved to the Board of Governors for decision are set out in
the Articles of Government, by custom, and under the Financial Memorandum with the Higher Education Funding
Council for England.

The Chair is responsible for the leadership of the Board of Governors and is ultimately responsible for its
effectiveness. The Chair is responsible for ensuring that the University is well connected with its stakeholders.

The Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive is responsible for advising the Board on strategic direction and for the
management of the institution, and is the accounting officer in respect of the use of Higher Education Funding
Council for England funds. The Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive is accountable to the Board of Governors which
has set down, and regularly reviews, the authority which it delegates to him, having regard to those responsibilities
conferred directly by the Articles of Government.

Conduct of Business
The Board of Governors meets at least four times each
year. One of these meetings is designated as a strategy
meeting lasting one and a half days, and includes a
formal Board meeting as well as less formal sessions.

The Board of Governors has established five standing
committees to help it to take forward its work. These are:
• The Resources and Employment Committee
• The Audit and Compliance Committee
• The Student Experience Committee
• The Nominations and Honours Committee
• The Remuneration Committee.
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The Resources and Employment Committee, inter alia, recommends to the Board of Governors the University’s
strategic plans, the annual revenue and capital budgets, and the annual financial statements. The Committee is
responsible for monitoring University performance using a balanced scorecard approach which was first adopted in
2004 and has been subsequently reviewed and refined on an annual basis. The Committee is also responsible for
reviewing the development and implementation of the University’s human resources strategy.

A summary of the Audit and Compliance Committee’s responsibilities for ensuring the efficiency and effectiveness of
systems of internal control is provided in a later section of this Statement. The Committee also has oversight of the
University’s arrangements for ensuring compliance with legislation and regulations, including diversity, equalities,
health and safety legislation, information and data as it applies both to staff and students. It is also responsible for
ensuring that the University complies with the accountability requirements set out in the Financial Memorandum with
the Higher Education Funding Council for England and those of other funding bodies, together with the University’s
Instrument and Articles of Government. It also ensures that a register of interests is maintained and annually reviewed
for governors and senior staff of the University.

The Student Experience Committee is responsible for reviewing the University’s arrangements for monitoring the
experience of prospective, present and past students and how it gains their views and incorporates them within its
activities. It makes recommendations to the Resources and Employment Committee on proposals for investment in
student facilities and reviews the University’s strategies for supporting the increased retention of students and
establishing relationships with alumni. In consultation with the Academic Board, it also ensures that rules are made
with respect to the conduct of students including procedures for suspension and expulsion.

The Nominations and Honours Committee considers new appointments to the Board and its committees and also
ensures a balance of skills amongst governors, sufficient to enable the Board to meet its primary responsibilities and to
ensure stakeholder confidence. The Committee specifies the role and capabilities required of new members, based on
an ongoing evaluation of the balance of skills and experience of the Board of Governors. Vacancies are widely
publicised within and outside the institution. This Committee is also responsible for considering and approving
nominations for honorary awards to be made by the University.

The Remuneration Committee determines the annual remuneration of the Vice Chancellor and the Clerk to the
Governors, and provides guidelines to the Vice Chancellor for determining the salaries of senior staff. The Committee 
is also responsible for reviewing severance arrangements for senior staff, taking account of guidance provided by the
Higher Education Funding Council for England.

In addition, an Estates Strategy Sub-committee reports and makes recommendations to the Resources and
Employment Committee on the University’s Estates Strategy and on the acquisition or disposal of land and buildings.

All Committees are required to report to the Board regularly at each meeting. The Vice Chancellor also provides a
report on key issues at each meeting. A report on University performance against the agreed indicators in the balanced
scorecard is also reviewed at each meeting. Members of the Vice Chancellor’s Management Group are present at each
Board meeting to expand on reports as appropriate and answer any questions that may arise. The proceedings of the
Board of Governors are conducted in as open a manner as possible. Information and papers are restricted only when
the wider interests of the University or the public interest demands, including the observance of contractual
obligations.

The Board of Governors keeps its effectiveness under regular review. It undertakes a formal and rigorous evaluation 
of its own effectiveness annually, and ensures that a parallel review is undertaken by the Academic Board and its
committees at least once every five years. Effectiveness is measured against both the Statement of Primary
Responsibilities, compliance with the Governance Code of Practice and other guidance issued by the Committee of
University Chairs on the characteristics of effective governing bodies. A formal report on the findings of the review is
presented to the Nominations and Honours Committee each year.

University performance is monitored through a balanced scorecard approach, as well as through regular reporting on
particular objectives in the University’s annual operating plan. The indicators in the scorecard are revised at least
annually to reflect priorities within the strategic plan, and these revisions are presented in reports to individual
committees and to the Board of Governors as a whole.
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Newly appointed governors are offered individual induction programmes which include meetings with members of
the Vice Chancellor’s Management Group, and mentoring by a longer standing governor. Governors are provided
with details of seminars and conferences arranged by the Leadership Foundation for Higher Education, HEFCE and
other bodies. They are also encouraged to attend a wide variety of University events and are able to visit individual
faculties, departments or classes.

Internal Control
The key elements of the University’s system of internal control, which is designed to support the financial
responsibilities of the Board of Governors, include:

• Clear definitions of the responsibilities of, and the authority delegated to, senior officers of the University.

• A comprehensive short and medium term planning process, supplemented by detailed annual income,
expenditure, capital and cash flow budgets.

• A regular review of institutional performance and of financial results, involving variance reporting and updates of
forecast out-turns.

• Clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and control of expenditure.

• Procedures for the management of investment and risk.

• A professional internal audit service, with terms of reference which reflect guidance issued by HEFCE and whose
annual programme is approved by the Audit and Compliance Committee.

The Audit and Compliance Committee is responsible for meeting, at least quarterly, with the external auditors and
the Internal Auditor of the University and reviewing their work. The Committee considers detailed reports together
with recommendations for the improvement of the University’s systems of internal control and management’s
response and implementation plans. It also receives and considers reports from the Higher Education Funding
Council for England and other assurance sources as they affect the University’s business and monitors adherence
with the regulatory requirements, including the need for ensuring the quality of data returned for funding purposes.
It reviews the University’s annual financial statements together with the accounting policies. Whilst senior
executives attend meetings of the Audit and Compliance Committee as necessary, they are not members of the
Committee.

The Board’s review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is also informed by the executive managers
within the institution, who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control
framework, and by comments made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports.

Risk Management
The system of internal control is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only
provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance of effectiveness. The Board is
responsible for ensuring that a sound system of controls is maintained and
reviews the University’s risk management policy annually to ensure that it
remains effective and fit for purpose.

The following processes have been established:

• The executive Risk Management Steering Group meets regularly to oversee
risk management processes and is responsible for the provision of reports,
setting out risk indicators and possible control issues, to the Board of
Governors and its committees.

• A corporate risk and control register, covering business, operational and
compliance risks as well as financial risks, is maintained throughout the year.
Risks are prioritised according to defined criteria of likelihood and impact.

• The corporate risk register is dynamic and is regularly reviewed against institutional objectives. It is kept up to
date by the Risk Management Steering Group which liaises with executive and Governors' committees.

• The Board requires regular reports from executive managers on the steps they are taking to manage key risks as
part of their ongoing operations, including progress reports on key projects and on internal control activities.

• Risk management techniques are incorporated into the operational business of the University, including the
management of major projects.

• Senior managers and heads of department receive training on the University’s risk management systems.

• The Audit and Compliance Committee receives reports from the Internal Auditor on the adequacy and
effectiveness of specific systems of internal control together with recommendations for improvement.

• The Internal Auditor reports annually to the Audit and Compliance Committee on its independent opinion on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal control, together with recommendations for improvement.

• The Audit and Compliance Committee receives comments made by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports.
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Financial responsibilities of the Board of Governors
In accordance with the Articles of Government, the Board of Governors is responsible for the oversight of the
administration and management of the affairs of the University and is required to present audited financial
statements for each financial year. The statements have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of
Recommended Practice – Accounting for Further and Higher Education Institutions (2007).

The Board of Governors is responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the University and enable it to ensure that the financial statements
comply with relevant legislation and are prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice:
Accounting in Further and Higher Education Institutions and other relevant accounting standards. Within the
terms and conditions of a Financial Memorandum agreed between HEFCE and the Board of Governors of the
University, the Board of Governors through its designated accountable officer, is required to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the University and of
the surplus or deficit for that year.

In causing the accounts to be prepared, the Board of Governors has to ensure that:

• Suitable UK accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

• Judgements and estimates are made that are reasonable and prudent.

• Applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements.

• Financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. After making enquiries, the Board of Governors
has a reasonable expectation that the University has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these
accounts.

The Board of Governors has taken reasonable steps to ensure that:

• Funds from the Higher Education Funding Council for England are used only for the purposes for which they
have been given and in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the Funding Council and any other
conditions which the Funding Council may from time to time prescribe.

• The assets of the University are safeguarded and reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities have been taken.

• The Board of Governors’ report and other information included in the financial statements are prepared in
accordance with relevant legislation in the United Kingdom.

• There are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard public funds and funds from 
other sources.

• The management of the University’s resources and expenditure is economic, efficient and effective.

Mr Andrew Bentley
Chair of the Board of Governors
24 November 2011
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Trustees and Members of the Board of Governors, 2010/11

Mr Andrew Bentley Chief Executive, LP33.TV Chair of Governors

Ms Tabitha Aldrich Smith Internal Communications Director, Balfour Beatty

Mr David Baggott Senior Partner, Machins Solicitors

Mr Stephen Ball Chief Executive, Lockheed Martin UK

Professor David Barrett Staff Governor

Mr Clem Brohier Director of Finance and Performance,
The National Archives

Mr Alan Cook CBE Chairman, Highways Agency; and Joined the Board November 2010
Chairman, Irish Life and Permanent Group Holdings

Dr Geoffrey Copland CBE Former Vice Chancellor, University of Westminster

Mrs Jane Creasy Leadership Consultant and Facilitator, Vice Chair of Governors
Creasy-Lockyer Ltd

Professor Les Ebdon CBE DL Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive

Mr Ajay Gowda Vice President, Students’ Union One year term of office

Mr Jeff Halliwell Former Managing Director, Bernard Matthews Vice Chair of Governors from July 2011

Dr Roger Holdom Chief Marketing and Communication Officer, Retired February 2011
Sterling FCS

Dr Yasmin Jetha Chief Information Officer, BUPA Vice Chair of Governors
Retired February 2011

Ms Ann Keen Former Health Minister Joined the Board November 2010

Dr Martin Lockett Director of Academic Development,
Ashridge Business School

Ms Jill Millns Interim HR Director

Mr Steven Monger Godfrey Owner, Grant Monger Godfrey Joined the Board July 2011

Ms Lyndsay Murphy President, Students’ Union One year term of office

Ms Gita Patel Director, Left the Board November 2010
Stargate Capital Investment Group Limited

Mr David Pearson Chairman, InnovITS Limited

Dame Denise Platt DBE Member, Committee on Standards in Public Life

Ms Carol Richmond Chief Risk Officer, AON Limited

Councillor Raja Saleem Luton Borough Council Retired November 2010

Mr John Sentinella Staff Governor

Mr James Shea Staff Governor

Mr Paul Wells Executive Chairman,
Wells & Young’s Brewing Company Ltd
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Independent auditors’ report to the
Board of Governors of the University of Bedfordshire
We have audited the group and University financial statements (the ‘‘financial statements’’) of the University of
Bedfordshire for the year ended 31 July 2011 which comprise the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account,
the Consolidated and University Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated
Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses, the Accounting Policies and the related notes. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the Board of Governors, in accordance with paragraph 13(2) of the University's
Articles of Government and section 124B of the Education Reform Act 1988. Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the Board of Governors those matters we are required to state to it in an auditor’s report and
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Board of Governors for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective Responsibilities of the Board of Governors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Financial Responsibilities of the Board of Governors set out on page 14,
the Board of Governors is responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view.
Our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and
University’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the Board of Governors; and the overall presentation of the financial
statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Report of the Governors to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the affairs of the group and University as at 31 July 2011 and of the

group’s income and expenditure, recognised gains and losses and cash flows for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and
Higher Education.

Opinion on other matters prescribed in the HEFCE Audit Code of Practice issued
under the Further and Higher Education Act 1992
In our opinion, in all material respects:

• funds from whatever source administered by the University for specific purposes have been properly applied to
those purposes;

• income has been applied in accordance with the University's Articles of Government;  and

• funds provided by HEFCE have been applied in accordance with the Financial Memorandum and any other terms
and conditions attached to them.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matter, where the HEFCE Audit Code of Practice issued under
the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

• the statement of internal control included as part of the Corporate Governance Statement is inconsistent with our
knowledge of the group and University.

M J Rowley
For and on behalf of KPMG, LLP, Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
One Snowhill, Snow Hill Queensway, Birmingham B4 6GH25 November 2010
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Principal Accounting Policies

1 Statement of accounting policies
The following accounting policies have been applied consistently to items which are considered material
in relation to the financial statements.
The new and revised accounting standards which have been considered in preparing these accounts are
listed below.
•  Amendments to FRS 25 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation (Classification of rights issues)’; and 
•  FRS 30 ‘Heritage Assets’.
The implementation of FRS 25 (as amended) and FRS 30 have had no material effect on these financial
statements.

2 Accounting convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of land, buildings and equipment inherited from Bedfordshire County Council and
endowment asset investments, and in accordance with both the Statement of Recommended Practice:
Accounting for Further and Higher Education (2007) and applicable accounting standards.

3 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements of the University, its trading
subsidiary undertaking, University of Bedfordshire Enterprises Limited, and its dormant subsidiaries,
Bedford Business School Limited, Bedfordshire Business School Limited, Milton Keynes Business
School Limited, UoB Student Accommodation (Luton) Limited and The Centre for Competitiveness
Limited, for the financial year to 31 July 2011.

Intragroup transactions are eliminated on consolidation and all income and expenditure relates to
external activities only.

The consolidated financial statements do not include those of the University of Bedfordshire Students’
Union as it is considered that the University has a limited financial interest therein and no control or
significant influence over policy decisions.

4 Recognition of income
The recurrent grant from the Higher Education Funding Council for England represents the funding
allocation, which is attributable to the current financial year and is credited direct to the Income and
Expenditure Account.

Tuition fees represent student fees received and receivable attributable to the current accounting period.

Income from endowments and donations, research grants, contracts and other services rendered is
included to the extent of the expenditure incurred during the year, together with any related
contributions towards overhead costs. All income from short term deposits is credited to the Income
and Expenditure Account on an accruals basis.

5 Land and buildings
Land is held freehold and is not depreciated as it is considered to have an indefinite useful life. Buildings
are depreciated over their expected useful lives of fifty years, with the exception of buildings acquired,
which are depreciated over their estimated remaining useful lives at the date of acquisition, assessed on
an individual basis. Leasehold property is depreciated over the life of the lease. Major refurbishments
are capitalised and written off over varying periods of up to a maximum of ten years, according to their
expected useful lives.

Where buildings are acquired with the aid of specific grants, the buildings are capitalised and
depreciated as above. The related grants are treated as deferred capital grants and are released to
income over the expected useful lives of the buildings to which they relate. Deferred credits in respect of
such grants, which are attributable to subsequent financial years, are separately identified on the
Balance Sheets.

6 Equipment
Equipment costing less than £1,000 is written off in the year of acquisition.

Capitalised equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over its expected useful life as follows:

Furniture, fixtures and fittings 10 years
Other office and teaching equipment 5 years
Computer equipment other than PCs 5 years
Personal computers (PCs) 4 years
Leased equipment Over the term of the lease

Where equipment is acquired with the aid of specific grants, it is capitalised and depreciated as above.
The related grants are treated as deferred capital grants and are released to income over the expected
useful life of the equipment to which they relate. Deferred credits in respect of such grants, which are
attributable to subsequent financial years, are separately identified on the Balance Sheets.
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7 Heritage assetst
In accordance with FRS 30, ‘Heritage assets’, acquisitions since 1 August 1999 have been capitalised at
cost or, in the case of donated assets, at expert valuation on receipt. Heritage assets are not depreciated
since their long economic life and high residual value mean that any depreciation would not be material.

8 Leases
Fixed assets held under finance leases and the related lease obligations are recorded in the Balance
Sheets at the fair value of the leased assets at the inception of the lease. The excess of lease payments
over recorded lease obligations is treated as finance charges and these are amortised over each lease
term to give a constant rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations.

Rental costs under operating leases are charged to the Income and Expenditure Account in equal annual
amounts over the periods of the leases.

9 Revaluation
In order to reflect the full value to the Group and the University of its land and buildings, the estate 
is subject to a full revaluation every five years with interim valuations by year three. The last full
revaluation was applied as at 31 July 2010. The University’s Property Advisors, Gerald Eve LLP, carried
out the valuation and have included specialised properties at depreciated replacement cost and non-
specialised properties on an existing use basis. Buildings under construction are accounted for at cost
and are not depreciated until they are brought into use. The valuation takes account of impairment and
events and changes to circumstances that indicate the carrying amount of the fixed assets may not be
recoverable.

10 Maintenance of premises and equipment
The University has a five-year rolling maintenance plan that is reviewed on an annual basis. The cost of
routine corrective maintenance is charged to the Income and Expenditure Account as incurred. The
University may set aside sums to meet the expected dilapidation costs on leasehold property.

11 Stocks
Stocks are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

12 Endowment assets and fixed asset investments
Endowment assets are included in the Balance Sheets at market value. Other fixed asset investments
are stated at cost less provision for permanent diminution in value.

13 Cash
Cash, for the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, comprises cash in hand and deposits repayable on
demand, less overdrafts repayable on demand.

14 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the University has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

15 Pension schemes
The two principal pension schemes of which the University’s employees are members are the Bedford
Borough Council Pension Fund (BBCPF), formerly the Bedfordshire County Council Pension Fund, and
the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS). Both are defined benefit schemes that are externally funded and
contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme.

The assets of the BBCPF are held separately from those of the University. Pension scheme assets are
measured using market values. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit method
and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and
currency to the liability. The pension scheme deficit is recognised in full. The movement in the pension
scheme deficit is split between operating charges, finance items and, in the Statement of Total
Recognised Gains and Losses, actuarial gains and losses.

The University is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the TPS on a
consistent and reasonable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 17 ‘Retirement benefits’, accounts for
the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the Income
and Expenditure Account represents the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the
accounting period.
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16 Taxation status
The University meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes as it is
considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010. Accordingly, the
University is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within
categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of
Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable
purposes.

The University is partially exempt in respect of Value Added Tax, as its main activity is the supply of
education which is an exempt supply for the purposes of VAT. Accordingly, it can only recover a minor
element of VAT charged on its inputs. Irrecoverable VAT on supplies and services received is included in
the related costs in the financial statements. It is also added to the cost of tangible fixed assets as
appropriate, where the inputs themselves are tangible fixed assets by nature.

As the VAT on supplies and services received exceeds the VAT on services provided, VAT represents a 
net cost to the University.

The University’s subsidiary companies are liable to corporation tax and VAT in the same way as any
commercial organisation. The University’s only trading subsidiary pays over its profits chargeable to
corporation tax to the University under a Deed of Covenant and therefore has no taxable profits.
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Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account 
for the Year Ended 31 July 2011

Note 2011 2010
£’000 £’000

Income
Funding body grants 1 43,001 42,694)
Tuition fees and education contracts 2 67,188 57,895)
Research grants and contracts 3 2,799 2,372)
Other operating income 4 10,625 9,770)
Endowment and investment income 5 843 618)

Total income 124,456 113,349)

Expenditure
Staff costs 6 52,312 47,285)
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 10 5,613 5,925)
Accelerated depreciation in respect of owned property 11 6,748 3,679)
Other operating expenses 7 45,340 44,328)
Interest and other finance costs 8 1,455 1,606)

Total expenditure 111,468 102,823)

Surplus after depreciation of tangible fixed assets at valuation 
but before taxation 12,988) 10,526)

Taxation credit 9 –) 1)

Surplus after depreciation of assets at valuation, 
exceptional items and taxation 12,988) 10,527)

Net surplus for the year reimbursed to 
accumulated income in endowment funds (38) (39)

Surplus for the year retained within general reserves 21 12,950) 10,488)

The above results relate wholly to continuing operations of the University and its subsidiaries.

Consolidated Statement of Historical Cost Surpluses and
Deficits for the Year Ended 31 July 2011

Note 2011 2010
£’000 £’000

Surplus after depreciation of tangible fixed assets at valuation 
and exceptional items but before taxation 12,988 10,526

Difference between an historical cost depreciation charge and the 
actual depreciation charge for the year calculated on the revalued amount 21 993 421

Accelerated release in respect of owned property 11 5,386 991

Transfer from revaluation reserve in respect of assets held for resale – 180

Historical cost surplus for the year before taxation 19,367 12,118

Historical cost surplus for the year after taxation 19,367 12,119
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Consolidated Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses 
for the Year Ended 31 July 2011

Note 2011 2010
£’000 £’000

Surplus for the year retained within general reserves 12,950) 10,488)
Revaluation of endowment asset investments 21 97) 118)
Deficit of endowment expenditure over income (125) (131)
New endowments 149) 126)
Revaluation of land and buildings 948) 56,088)
Actuarial gains/(losses) in respect of the Local Government Pension Scheme 27 5,531) (7,740)
Past service gain 27 –) 3,931)

Total recognised gains relating to the year 19,550) 62,880)

Reconciliation 2011 2010
£’000 £’000

Opening reserves and endowments 88,253) 25,373)
Total recognised gains for the year 19,550) 62,880)

Closing reserves and endowments 107,803) 88,253)
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Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2011

Consolidated University

Note 2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 10 130,782 127,590 130,632 127,380
Investments 12 28 28 39 39

130,810 127,618 130,671 127,419

Endowment assets 13 1,644 1,523 1,644 1,523

Current assets
Stocks 37 33 37 33
Debtors 14 8,174 7,678 8,550 10,453
Cash at bank and in hand 48,503 43,451 48,259 42,674

56,714 51,162 56,846 53,160
Creditors: Amounts falling due 
within one year 15 (25,328) (27,853) (25,311) (29,714)

Net current assets 31,386) 23,309) 31,535) 23,446)

Total assets less current liabilities 163,840 152,450 163,850 152,388

Creditors: Amounts falling due 
after more than one year 16 (17,787) (18,637) (17,787) (18,637)

Provisions for liabilities 18 (5,866) (8,892) (5,866) (8,892)

Net assets excluding pension liability 140,187) 124,921) 140,197) 124,859)

Net pension liability 27 (17,535) (22,060) (17,535) (22,060)

Net assets including pension liability 122,652) 102,861) 122,662) 102,799)



Balance Sheets as at 31 July 2011 (continued)

Consolidated University

Note 2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred capital grants 19 14,849) 14,608) 14,702) 14,405)

Endowments
Expendable 20 1,644) 1,523) 1,644) 1,523)

Reserves
Income and expenditure account
excluding pension reserve 21 60,594) 40,259) 60,751) 40,400)

Pension reserve 27 (17,535) (22,060) (17,535) (22,060)

Income and expenditure account
including pension reserve 43,059) 18,199) 43,216) 18,340)

Revaluation reserve 21 63,100) 68,531) 63,100) 68,531)

Total funds 122,652) 102,861) 122,662) 102,799)

The financial statements on pages 20 to 42 were approved by the Board of Governors on 24 November 2011 
and signed on their behalf by:

Mr Andrew Bentley
Chair of the Board of Governors

Professor Les Ebdon CBE DL
Vice Chancellor and Chief Executive

University of Bedfordshire 23 Financial Statements



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
for the Year Ended 31 July 2011

Note 2011 2010
£’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 25 24,031 25,984

Returns on investment and servicing of finance
Income from endowments 129 102
Other interest received 675 516
Interest paid (464) (541)

Net cash inflow from returns on investment 
and servicing of finance 340) 77)

Taxation –) 1)

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (18,896) (18,890)
Deferred capital grants received 460) 3,803)

Net cash outflow on capital expenditure and financial investment (18,436) (15,087)

Net cash inflow before financing 5,935) 10,975)

Financing
Repayment of mortgages and loans (860) (850)

Net cash outflow from financing (860) (850)

Increase in cash in the year 5,075) 10,125)

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement on net funds

2011 2010
£’000 £’000

Increase in cash in the year 5,075) 10,125)
Changes in net funds resulting from cashflows 860) 955)
Non-cash movement in net funds –) –)

Movement in the year 5,935) 11,080)

Net funds at the beginning of the year 25,176) 14,096)

Net funds at the end of the year 31,111) 25,176)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1  Funding body grants
Continuing Acquisition 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Recurrent grants
Higher Education Funding Council for England 18,445 4,959 27,990 26,909
Training and Development Agency for Schools 456 0 6,263 5,822

Specific grants
Learning and teaching 769 67 369 349
Higher Education Innovation Fund 1,067 0 968 1,151
Improving retention 2,745 787 3,820 4,398
Other grants 3,267 0 2,170 2,505

Release of deferred capital grants (note 19) 1,192 0 1,421 1,560

28,012 10,643 43,001 42,694

2  Tuition fees and education contracts

Continuing Acquisition 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Full-time home and EU students 7,636 3,879 25,687 22,938
Part-time students 2,312 593 3,724 3,324
International students 9,125 187 27,810 21,328
NHS contracts 8,358 0 9,633 10,044
Full cost courses 8,358 0 297 218
Registration and examination fees 7 0 7 43

27,741 4,661 67,188 57,895

3   Research grants and contracts

Continuing Acquisition 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Research councils and UK-based charities 302 8 538 410
Governmental 8,358 0 887 484
Industry and commerce 1,008 1 1,374 1,478

1,310 9 2,799 2,372

4  Other operating income

Continuing Acquisition 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Residences, catering and conferences 3,317 1,164 5,974 5,901
Other services rendered 1,563 267 3,153 2,144
European Social Fund 716 0 19 98
Release of capital grants (note 19) 24 0 127 86
Other income 856 109 1,352 1,541

6,476 1,540 10,625 9,770
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

5   Endowment and investment income
Continuing Acquisition 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Income from expendable endowments 85 0 168 102
Income from short-term investments 196 0 661 508
Bank interest 702 0 14 8

983 0 843 618

6  Staff costs and numbers
Continuing Acquisition 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Staff costs:
Salaries 26,821 6,320 43,547 40,009
Social security costs 2,043 481 3,375 2,749
Other pension costs 2,951 695 5,254 4,671
FRS17 adjustment 624 147 136) (144)

32,439 7,643 52,312 47,285

2011 2010
£’000 £’000

Emoluments of the Vice Chancellor:
Salary 2,043 481 244 242
Benefits in kind 2,951 695 4 4
Pension contributions 624 147 31 31

32,439 7,643 279 277

Higher paid employees are defined in accordance with the Higher Education Funding Council for England’s accounts
direction as all employees whose emoluments are equal to or greater than £100,000. For disclosure purposes,
emoluments have been taken to include, in addition to basic salary, the taxable value of benefits in kind plus
employer pension contributions.

The number of staff, excluding the Vice Chancellor, who received emoluments in the following ranges was:

2011 2010

£100,000 - £109,999 1 1
£110,000 - £119,999 2 2
£120,000 - £129,999 2 –
£130,000 - £139,999 1 1
£140,000 - £149,999 – 1
£170,000 - £179,999 – 1
£180,000 - £189,999 1 –

No charges for compensation for loss of office have been made in the financial statements in respect of any
members of staff included in the above analysis.

The average monthly number of persons employed by the University and its subsidiaries, expressed as full time
equivalents, was:

Continuing Acquisition 2011 2010

Academic departments 319 120 504 486
Student support departments 319 120 285 265
Administrative and central services 468 78 258 255

787 198 1,047 1,006

University of Bedfordshire 26 Financial Statements



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

7  Other operating expenses
Continuing Acquisition 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Staff related expenditure 1,876 224 2,084 1,787
Course consumables 207 8 400 338
Student related expenditure 8,710 2,513 14,461 14,807
Registration, examination and accreditation costs 52 2 238 214
Printing, reprographics and stationery 850 8 749 631
Books, periodicals and information services 635 135 1,099 880
Promotional costs 990 25 641 831
General office costs 1,264 103 1,222 1,133
Health and safety expenditure 94 18 67 103
Insurance 224 79 221 286
Legal and professional fees 2,680 31 7,704 6,103
Computer and equipment costs 1,932 134 2,499 2,456
Vehicle fleet costs 34 87 233 227
Premises related expenditure 7,016 1,300 11,426 11,738
Diminution in value of land and buildings 299 194 948 –
Catering costs 299 194 1,189 1,129
Internal auditors’ remuneration - audit services 103 0 4 70
External auditor’s remuneration - audit services 48 0 48 67
External auditor’s remuneration - other services 57 0 72 35
Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets 52 0 249 336
Write down of tangible fixed assets 52 0 43 352
Other expenses 573 56 146 67

27,696 4,748 45,743 43,590

Charges/(credits) in respect of halls of residence acquired
Onerous lease provision 52 0 (2,786) 9
Dilapidations 52 0 (1,484) 729
Impairment of fixed assets 573 56 3,867) –

27,696 4,748 45,340) 44,328

The diminution in value of land and buildings has arisen as a result of restructuring the University’s fixed asset
register and the subsequent re-allocation of the University’s revaluation reserve to specific blocks of buildings
rather than to general sites occupied by the University. This has resulted in an increase in the allocation of the
revaluation reserve to certain land and buildings, and a corresponding decrease in other land and buildings. The
charge of £948,000 (2010: £750,000) represents the excess of downward adjustments over amounts held for those
assets in the revaluation reserve previously.

The charges/(credits) in respect of halls of residence acquired relate solely to those halls which were acquired
during the year (see note 18).

8  Interest and other finance costs
Continuing Acquisition 2011 2010

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Loans not wholly repayable within five years 718 376 585 545
Net charge on pension scheme 209 49 870 1,061

951 425 1,455 1,606
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

9  Taxation

Continuing Acquisition 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Credit in respect of prior years 12 0 –) 1

Taxation credit for the year 18 0 –) 1

At 31 July 2011 a deferred tax asset of £56,000 (2010: £50,000) was unprovided. This has not been recognised as it
is not considered probable that the balance will be recoverable in the foreseeable future.

The University meets the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes as it is considered to
pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010. Accordingly, the University is potentially
exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11
of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such
income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes.

10  Tangible assets

Consolidated
Land and buildings Assets Other

under owned
Freehold Leasehold construction assets Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost or valuation

At 1 August 2010 104,392) 41) 19,592 21,063) 145,088)
Additions 13,239) –) 1,441 5,032) 19,712)
Reclassification (1,564) 1,564) – –) –)
Disposals (4,336) –) – (3,203) (7,539)
Write down of assets no longer in use –) –) –) (177) (177)
Assets brought into use 19,989) –) (19,989) –) –)

At 31 July 2011 131,720) 1,605) 1,044 22,715) 157,084)

Depreciation

At 1 August 2010 6,117) 27) – 11,354) 17,498)
Charge for the year 2,501) 121) – 2,991) 5,613)
Accelerated depreciation in respect of 
owned property 6,748) –) – –) 6,748)
Reclassification (614) 614) – –) –)
Disposals (4,102) –) – (3,188) (7,290)
Write down of assets no longer in use –) –) – (134) (134)
Impairments 3,867) –) – –) 3,867)

At 31 July 2011 14,517) 762) – 11,023) 26,302)

Net book value

At 31 July 2011 117,203) 843) 1,044 11,692) 130,782)

At 31 July 2010 98,275) 14) 19,592 9,709) 127,590)

Represented by:

Inherited 44,485) –) – –) 44,485)
Financed by capital grants 13,375) –) – 1,474) 14,849)
Other 59,343) 843) 1,044 10,218) 71,448)

Net book value at 31 July 2011 117,203) 843) 1,044 11,692) 130,782)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

10  Tangible assets (continued)

University
Land and buildings Assets Other

under owned
Freehold Leasehold construction assets Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Cost or valuation

At 1 August 2010 104,393) 41) 19,592 20,765) 144,791)
Additions 13,239) –) 1,441 5,032) 19,712)
Reclassification (1,564) 1,564) – –) –)
Disposals (4,334) –) – (3,203) (7,537)
Write down of assets no longer in use –) –) –) (177) (177)
Assets brought into use 19,989) –) (19,989) –) –)

At 31 July 2011 131,723) 1,605) 1,044 22,417) 156,789)

Depreciation

At 1 August 2010 6,116) 27) – 11,268) 17,411)
Charge for the year 2,501) 121) – 2,933) 5,555)
Accelerated depreciation in respect of 
owned property 6,748) –) – –) 6,748)
Reclassification (614) 614) – –) –)
Disposals (4,102) –) – (3,188) (7,290)
Write down of assets no longer in use –) –) – (134) (134)
Impairments 3,867) –) – –) 3,867)

At 31 July 2011 14,516) 762) – 10,879) 26,157)

Net book value

At 31 July 2011 117,207) 843) 1,044 11,538) 130,632)

At 31 July 2010 98,277) 14) 19,592 9,497) 127,380)

Represented by:

Inherited 44,485) –) – –) 44,485)
Financed by capital grants 13,375) –) – 1,327) 14,702)
Other 59,347) 843) 1,044 10,211) 71,445)

Net book value at 31 July 2011 117,207) 843) 1,044 11,538) 130,632)

Land and buildings inherited from the Local Authority by Luton College of Higher Education and subsequently
transferred to the University on its incorporation have been included at their revalued amount as at 31 July 2010, less
depreciation charged subsequently on buildings, together with other land and buildings owned by the University. The
valuation was carried out in July 2010 by Gerald Eve LLP.

Included within Other owned assets is an amount of £150,000 (2010: £150,000) relating to the Hockliffe Collection of
early British children’s books. This has been identified as a heritage asset under FRS 30 ‘Heritage Assets’. The
Hockliffe Collection is not depreciated.

Movements in Assets under construction relate to the University’s Estates Strategy. Further information regarding
this is included in note 11 below.

In addition to the properties included as fixed assets above, the University occupies sites in Bedfordshire and
Buckinghamshire in relation to the delivery of nursing contracts. These premises are used for teaching and
administrative purposes. The combined annual rental and utilities cost in the year ended 31 July 2011 amounted to
£734,000 (2010: £760,000) and is included within Other operating expenses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

11  Estates strategy

The University has an Estates Strategy (the Strategy) Masterplan which was approved by the Board of
Governors in 2006 and covers proposed developments at both the Luton and Bedford campuses over a ten year
period. The phases of the Strategy which had commenced and/or completed by 31 July 2011 were:

Construction commenced Completion date

Luton Campus Centre July 2008 October 2010
Luton Postgraduate and CPD Centre March 2011 Est. February 2013

Further phases of the Strategy are now at the feasibility stage. Properties which are expected to be affected by
these future phases are being depreciated over their estimated remaining useful economic lives, on the
presumption that the feasibility reviews will present an appropriate business case.

The accelerated depreciation in respect of the properties affected by these future phases amounted to £6,748,000
(2010: £3,679,000). This additional depreciation was partially offset by the release from the revaluation reserve in
respect of the properties affected amounting to £5,386,000 (2010: £991,000).

12  Investments
Consolidated University

2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

CVCP Properties plc 28 28 28 28
Investment in subsidiary companies at cost – – 11 11

28 28 39 39

The University owns 99.9% of the issued share capital of 1,000 £1 ordinary shares of University of Bedfordshire
Enterprises Limited, a company registered in England and Wales and operating in the UK, whose major activities
are the provision of conferences, full-cost courses and consultancy.

The University owns 100% of the issued share capital of the following dormant companies registered in England
and Wales:

1 £1 ordinary share in Bedford Business School Limited
2 £1 ordinary shares in Bedfordshire Business School Limited
1 £1 ordinary share in Milton Keynes Business School Limited
1 £1 ordinary share in UoB Student Accommodation (Luton) Limited
9,999 £1 ordinary shares in The Centre for Competitiveness Limited

13  Endowment asset investments
Consolidated University

2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 1,523 1,410 1,523 1,410
Revaluations to market value 97) 118) 97) 118)
Increase/(decrease) in cash balances held 24) (5) 24) (5)

Balance at the end of the year 1,644 1,523 1,644 1,523

Represented by:
M & G Charifund units 1,161 1,064 1,161 1,064
Bank balances 483 459 483 459

1,644 1,523 1,644 1,523
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

14  Debtors
Consolidated University

2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade debtors 3,429 2,911 3,370 2,842
Prepayments 2,742 3,269 2,720 3,268
Accrued income 2,003 1,498 1,931 1,498
Amount due from subsidiary undertaking – – 529 2,845

8,174 7,678 8,550 10,453

15  Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Consolidated University

2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Unsecured loans (note 17) 870 860 870 860
Trade creditors 8,459 9,040 8,458 9,022
Social security and other taxation payable 1,190 1,077 1,190 1,077
Accruals 5,723 5,995 5,640 5,987
Deferred income 7,651 9,657 7,541 9,657
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings – – 177 1,887
Other creditors (re HEFCE) 12 47 12 47
Other creditors (non HEFCE) 1,423 1,177 1,423 1,177

25,328 27,853 25,311 29,714

Deferred income includes £nil (2010: £1,329,000) in respect of capital grants received but where the assets have
not yet been fully acquired. The grants are reclassified to deferred capital grants as the related additions are
brought into use as fixed assets.

16  Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Consolidated University

2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Unsecured loans (note 17) 17,005 17,875 17,005 17,875
Other creditors 782 762 782 762

17,787 18,637 17,787 18,637

17  Loans
Consolidated University

2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Bank loans are repayable as follows:
Between one and two years 681 870 681 870
Between two and five years 2,096 2,074 2,096 2,074
Over five years 14,228 14,931 14,228 14,931

Total falling due after more than one year (note 16) 17,005 17,875 17,005 17,875
Total falling due within one year (note 15) 870 860 870 860

17,875 18,735 17,875 18,735
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

17  Loans (continued)

Interest payable on the loans is charged as follows:

Barclays Bank Tranche A (i) 5.18% fixed rate
Barclays Bank Tranche A (ii) 0.23% above LIBOR
Barclays Bank Tranche B 5.35% fixed rate
Lloyds TSB Bank (i) 5.35% fixed rate
Lloyds TSB Bank (ii) 0.22% above base rate
HEFCE Interest free

18  Provisions for liabilities

Consolidated University

2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Dilapidations 4,976 4,506 4,976 4,506
Onerous leases – 2,786 – 2,786
Other provisions 890 1,600 890 1,600

5,866 8,892 5,866 8,892

Onerous Other
Dilapidations leases provisions Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 August 2010 4,506 2,786 1,600 8,892
Released to income and expenditure (1,484) (2,786) (892) (5,162)
Payments (366) –) –) (366)
Charged to income and expenditure 2,320 – 182 2,502

At 31 July 2011 4,976 – 890 5,866

The dilapidations provision represents the anticipated costs for premises where the lease is due to terminate
and/or the University plans to exit the premises.

The onerous leases provision represented the rent on blocks in one of the University’s halls of residence which,
as at 31 July 2010, were not expected to be occupied in the foreseeable future. During the current financial year
the property was purchased by the University and the provision has therefore been released in full.

The purchase price paid for the above property and two further halls of residence acquired during the year
included an element to acquire the underlying leases. An assessment by a chartered surveyor of the market
value on an existing use valuation basis of the properties acquired resulted in impairment charges of £3,867,000
(2010: £nil), however provisions totalling £4,270,000 (2010: £nil) made in prior years in respect of these
properties were also released on acquisition. The net effect of the acquisitions is therefore a credit of £403,000
(2010: £nil) to the income and expenditure account.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

19  Deferred Capital Grants

Consolidated

HEFCE Other Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 August 2010
Buildings 12,548 252 12,800
Equipment 1,554 254 1,808

Total 14,102 506 14,608

Cash receivable in the year
Buildings 460 – 460
Equipment – – –

Total 460 – 460

Transferred from creditors
Buildings 1,329 – 1,329
Equipment – – –

Total 1,329 – 1,329

Released to income in the year
Buildings 1,137) 77) 1,214)
Equipment 284) 50) 334)

Total 1,421) 127) 1,548)

At 31 July 2011
Buildings 13,200 175 13,375
Equipment 1,270 204 1,474

Total 14,470 379 14,849

The amounts transferred from creditors represent the proportion of grant received in previous years which
relates to fixed asset additions in the current year or assets brought into use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

19  Deferred Capital Grants (continued)

University

HEFCE Other Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 August 2010
Buildings 12,548 252 12,800
Equipment 1,554 51 1,605

Total 14,102 303 14,405

Cash receivable in the year
Buildings 460 – 460
Equipment – – –

Total 460 – 460

Transferred from creditors
Buildings 1,329 – 1,329
Equipment – – –

Total 1,329 – 1,329

Released to income in the year
Buildings 1,137) 77) 1,214)
Equipment 229) 49) 278)

Total 1,366) 126) 1,492)

At 31 July 2011
Buildings 13,200 175 13,375
Equipment 1,325 2 1,327

Total 14,525 177 14,702

The amounts transferred from creditors represent the proportion of grants received in prior years which relates
to fixed asset additions in the current year or assets brought into use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

20  Endowments
Consolidated 

and University

Restricted
Expendable

£’000

At 1 August 2010
Capital value 1,410)
Accumulated income 113)

Total 1,523

Additions 149)
Revaluation of endowment asset investments 97)
Income for the year 129)
Expenditure for the year (254)

Total 121

At 31 July 2011
Capital value 1,523)
Accumulated income 121)

1,644

£’000
Representing:

Powdrill Fund 929
Sir Ian Dixon Memorial Fund 21
Dr Tony Wood Fund 20
Appeals Fund 327
Steel Trust Fund 158
Hedges Fund 89
Alexander Trust – Chair Fund 16
Alexander Trust – Bursary Fund 62
Other funds 22

1,644
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

21   Reconciliation of movements on reserves

Endowments Revaluation Income and Pension Total
reserve expenditure reserve

account
Consolidated £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 August 2010 1,523) 68,531) 40,259) (22,060) 88,253)

Revaluation of endowment asset investments 97) –) –) –) 97)

Net endowment expense for the year 24) –) –) –) 24)

Difference between historical cost depreciation –) (993) 993) –) –)
charge and the actual depreciation charge
for the year on the revalued amount

Accelerated release in respect of –) (5,386) 5,386) –) –)
owned property

Surplus after depreciation of assets at –) –) 12,950) –) 12,950)
valuation and taxation

Adjustment for movements in the –) –) 1,006) (1,006) –)
income and expenditure account

Revaluation of land and buildings –) 948) –) –) 948)

Actuarial gain in the year –) –) –) 5,531) 5,531)

At 31 July 2011 1,644) 63,100) 60,594) (17,535) 107,803)

University

At 1 August 2010 1,523) 68,531) 40,400) (22,060) 88,394)

Revaluation of endowment investments 97) –) –) –) 97)

Net endowment expense for the year 24) –) –) –) 24)

Difference between historical cost depreciation –) (993) 993) –) –)
charge and the actual depreciation charge
for the year on the revalued amount

Accelerated release in respect of –) (5,386) 5,386) –) –)
owned property

Surplus after depreciation of assets at –) –) 12,966) –) 12,757)
valuation and taxation

Adjustment for movements in the –) –) 1,006) (1,006) –)
income and expenditure account

Revaluation of land and buildings –) 948) –) –) 948)

Actuarial gain in the year –) –) –) 5,531) 5,531)

At 31 July 2011 1,644) 63,100) 60,751) (17,535) 107,960)
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22  Lease obligations
Consolidated and University

Land and buildings Other

2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Operating lease commitments for the financial year 
on leases expiring:

Within one year – – 20 68
Between one and two years 325 – 4 76
Between two and five years 263 325 32 135
Over five years 1,884 2,812 – –

2,472 3,137 56 279

23  Capital commitments
Consolidated University

2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Commitments contracted 4,092 2,059 4,092 2,059
Authorised but not contracted 21,422 18,254 21,422 18,254

25,514 20,313 25,514 20,313

Included above are amounts in respect of the approved phases of the Estates Strategy. The amounts contracted
at 31 July 2011 in respect of this development were £426,000 (2010: £636,000); an additional £21,143,000 (2010:
£13,721,000) was authorised but not contracted for at the balance sheet date.

24  Contingent liabilities

As at the balance sheet date, there were no material contingent liabilities (2010: £nil) requiring disclosure in the
financial statements.

25  Reconciliation of consolidated operating surplus to net cash inflow from operating activities

2011 2010
£’000 £’000

Surplus after depreciation of assets at valuation and exceptional items
but before taxation 12,988 10,526)
Contribution from endowments (168) (102)
Depreciation 12,361 9,604
Loss on write down of tangible fixed assets 43) 868)
Loss on disposals of tangible fixed assets 249) –)
FRS17 adjustment to income and expenditure account – staff costs 136) (115)
FRS17 adjustment to income and Expenditure Account – interest 870 1,061
Deferred capital grants released to income (note 19) (1,548) (1,646)
Interest receivable (675) (516)
Interest payable 585 545
Diminution in value of land and buildings 948 –
Impairments 3,867 713
(Decrease)/increase in stocks (4) 5)
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (496) 1,429)
Decrease in creditors (1,994) (932)
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (3,026) 4,695)
Endowment transfers (105) (151)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 24,031) 25,984)
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26  Analysis of changes in net debt
Other

1 August Cashflows non-cash 31 July
2010 changes 2011
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 43,452) 5,051) –) 48,503)
Cash held within endowments 459) 24) –) 483)

43,911) 5,075) –) 48,986)

Debts due within one year (860) 860) (870) (870)
Debts due after one year (17,875) –) 870) (17,005)

(18,735) 860) –) (17,875)

Net funds 25,176) 5,935) –) 31,111)

27  Pension schemes

Employees of the University and its subsidiaries belong principally to two pension schemes, the Teachers’
Pension Scheme (TPS) and the Bedford Borough Council Pension Fund (BBCPF). A small number of staff belong
to the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS).

The total pension cost in the year, including the FRS17 adjustment, was:

2011 2010
£’000 £’000

TPS 2,610 2,427
BBCPF 2,239 2,014
NHS 43 –
USS 322 230

5,214 4,671

Teachers’ Pension Scheme

The TPS is a statutory, contributory, final salary scheme. As the University is unable to identify its share of the
scheme’s assets and liabilities on a consistent and reasonable basis, the scheme has been accounted for in these
financial statements as if it were a defined contribution scheme, as permitted by FRS 17, ‘Retirement benefits’.

Actuarial reviews of the scheme are undertaken at four yearly intervals. The actuarial review as at 31 March 2008
has not yet been published.

The most recent published actuarial valuation was effective as at 31 March 2004 and covered the three previous
financial years. As a result of the review both employer’s and employees’ contributions were increased. With
effect from 1 January 2007 the employer’s rate became 14.1% (from 13.5%), and the employees’ rate became
6.4% (from 6.0%). The cost sharing agreement between employers and teachers’ representatives also
introduced, effective for the first time for the 2008 valuation, a 14% cap on employer contributions payable.

The principal assumptions used in the 31 March 2004 valuation and the summary of valuation of assets and
accrued benefits were as follows:

Actuarial method Prospective benefits

Investment returns per annum 6.50%
Salary scale increases per annum 5.00%
Pension increases per annum 3.50%
Total value of assets at date of last valuation £162,650m
Proportion of members’ accrued benefits covered by the actuarial value of the assets 98.88%
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27  Pension schemes (continued)

Bedford Borough Council Pension Fund (BBCPF)

The BBCPF is a funded defined benefit scheme with the assets held in separate trustee administered funds. 
The total contribution for the year ended 31 July 2011 was £3,068,000 (2010: £2,911,000) of which employer
contributions totalled £1,995,000 (2010: £2,014,000) and employee contributions totalled £1,073,000 (2010: £897,000).

A full actuarial valuation of the fund as at 31 March 2010 was undertaken by a qualified independent actuary.

The results of the valuation undertaken as at 31 March 2010 have been updated to 31 July 2011 and 31 July 2010
in actuarial valuations prepared for FRS17 purposes by that actuary, and the information below has been taken
from those updated valuations. The major assumptions used in these valuations were:

2011 2010
% %

Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.70 2.90
Rate of increase in salaries 5.00 4.90
Rate of increase in pensions in payment and deferred 2.70 2.90
Discount rate for liabilities 5.30 5.40
Commutation to tax free lump sum 75.00 75.00

Changes to the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) under regulation 3 of the LGPS (Amendment)
Regulations 2006 (Statutory Instrument 2006/966), permit employees retiring on or after 6 April 2006 to take an
increase in their lump sum payment on retirement in exchange for a reduction in their future annual pension.
Following consultation with the scheme’s actuaries, it has been assumed that 75% (2010: 75%) of employees
retiring after 6 April 2006 will take advantage of this change to the scheme. The actuaries have advised that this
will reduce the value of the University’s retirement benefits liability at the year end.

The agreed employer contribution rates for current and future years are as follows:

Additional contribution
Rate pa

% £’000
1 April 2008 to 31 March 2011 15.3 Nil
1 April 2011 to 31 March 2012 13.5 853
1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013 13.5 898
1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 13.5 946

With effect from 1 April 2008 the contribution rates payable by employees have been banded according to levels
of pensionable pay. The range of contribution rates payable is from a minimum of 5.50% to a maximum of
7.50%; the mean average rate is 6.00%.

Scheme assets

The fair value of the University’s share of the scheme’s assets and the expected rates of return thereon are set
out in the table below. 

31 July 2011 31 July 2010

Long term Long term
expected expected

rate of rate of
return Value return Value

% pa £’000 % pa £’000

Equities 7.00 21,289 7.30 20,765
Bonds 4.60 10,645 4.80 8,095
Property 5.10 3,685 5.30 3,168
Cash 4.00 5,322 4.40 3,168

40,941 35,196

The scheme’s assets are not intended to be realised in the short term and may be subject to significant change
before they are realised.
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27  Pension schemes (continued)
2011 2010
£’000 £’000

University’s estimated share of assets 40,941 35,196
Present value of scheme liabilities (58,476) (57,256)

Deficit in the scheme – net pension liability (17,535) (22,060)

Analysis of the amount charged to the Income and Expenditure Account
Analysis of the amount charged to staff costs:

Employer service cost (net of employee contributions) 2,340) 1,870)
Losses on curtailments and settlements 35) –)

Total operating charge 2,375) 1,870)

Analysis of the amount charged to interest and other finance costs:
Interest on pension scheme liabilities 3,138) 2,966)
Expected return on pension scheme assets (2,268) (1,905)

Pension finance costs 870) 1,061)

Net revenue account cost 3,245) 2,931)

Amount recognised in the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses
Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets 1,787) 1,965)
Change in financial and demographic assumptions underlying 
the scheme liabilities 3,744) (9,705)

Actuarial gain/(loss) before exceptional pension credit 5,531) (7,740)
Exceptional pension credit – past service gain –) 3,931)

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in the Statement of 
Total Recognised Gains and Losses

5,531) (3,809)

The exceptional pension credit of £nil (2010: £3,931,000) is the result of the announcement by the Government in
its June 2010 budget that future increases in public sector pension schemes were to be linked to changes in the
Consumer Prices Index (CPI) rather than, as previously, the Retail Prices Index (RPI). Following this announcement,
the University considered the Bedford Borough Council Pension Fund scheme rules and associated members’
literature and concluded that this change represented a revised actuarial assumption and therefore the resulting
gain was recognised within the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses. Following the issue of Urgent
Issues Task Force Abstract 48 in December 2010, the University has reconsidered its position in respect of this
matter and has concluded that the above treatment of the gain remains appropriate.

2011 2010
£’000 £’000

Analysis of the movements in the present value of the scheme liabilities
At the beginning of the year 57,256) 46,520)
Current service cost 2,340) 1,870)
Interest cost 3,138) 2,966)
Contributions by scheme members 942) 910)
Actuarial (gains)/losses (3,744) 9,705)
Exceptional pension credit – past service gain –) (3,931)
Losses on curtailments and settlements 35) –)
Estimated benefits paid (1,491) (784)

At the end of the year 58,476) 57,256)

The exceptional pension credit of £nil (2010: £3,931,000) is the result of the change from the use of the Retail
Price Index to the Consumer Prices Index in the calculation of future pension increases.
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27  Pension schemes (continued)

Analysis of the movements in the market value of the scheme assets
2011 2010
£’000 £’000

At the beginning of the year 35,196) 29,186)
Expected return on assets 2,268) 1,905)
Contributions by scheme members 942) 910)
Contributions by the University 2,239) 2,014)
Actuarial gains 1,787) 1,965)
Estimated benefits paid (1,491) (784)

At the end of the year 40,941) 35,196)

The estimated value of employer contributions for the year to 31 July 2012 is £2,684,000 (year to 31 July 2011:
£2,239,000).

History of experience gains and losses
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

£m £m £m £m £m

Difference between the expected and actual return 
on assets 1.8) 2.0) (5.4) (3.3) 0.6)

Experience gains and losses on scheme liabilities 1.2) –) (0.4) (0.5) (0.3)

Total amount recognised in the Statement of 
Total Recognised Gains and Losses 5.5) (3.8) (8.6) 0.3) 3.9)

Movement in deficit during the year

2011 2010
£’000 £’000

Deficit in the scheme at the beginning of the year (22,060) (17,334)
Current service cost (2,340) (1,870)
Contributions paid 2,239) 2,014)
Past service gain –) 3,931)
Losses on curtailments and settlements (35) –)
Net interest charge (870) (1,061)
Actuarial gain/(loss) 5,531) (7,740)

Deficit in the scheme at the end of the year (17,535) (22,060)

Universities Superannuation Scheme

A small number of staff belong to the Universities Superannuation Scheme, a defined benefit scheme which is
externally funded and contracted out of the State Second Pension (S2P). The assets of the scheme are held in a
separate trustee-administered fund. It is not possible to identify each institution’s share of the underlying assets
and liabilities of the scheme and so the exemptions of FRS17, ‘Retirement Benefits’ have been used to account
for the contributions as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The cost recognised within the surplus for the
year in the Income and Expenditure Account is equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the year.
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28  Access funds and Opportunity bursary funds

HEFCE TDA Other

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Balance brought forward at the
beginning of the year 24 – (59) – 9 219
Grants received 352 426 1,890 1,786 – 25
Interest earned – 1 – – – –

376 427 1,831 1,786 9 244

Disbursed (368) (403) (1,480) (1,845) (9) (235)

Balance unspent at the end of the year 8 24 351) (59) – 9

The grants from HEFCE and the TDA are available solely for students of the University.

The other grant relates to a government funded community development scheme in Luton, aimed at improving
access to higher and further education. This scheme ended during the year.

In all cases the University has acted only as paying agent. The grants and related disbursements are therefore
excluded from the Income and Expenditure Account.

28  Related party transactions

Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of the Board of Governors (being drawn
from local public and private sector organisations) it is inevitable that transactions will take place with
organisations in which members of the Board of Governors may have an interest. All transactions involving
organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors may have an interest are conducted at arm’s length
and in accordance with the University’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures.

The President of the Students’ Union also serves as a Trustee of the University and member of the Board of
Governors. The Students’ Union is an independent entity, and the University has no involvement in the running
of this organisation. During the year the University made grant payments to the Students’ Union of £695,000
(2010: £703,000). No other transactions were identified which require disclosure under Financial Reporting
Standard 8, ‘Related Party Disclosures’.

No governor has received any remuneration or waived payments from the University or its subsidiaries during
the year (2010: None).

The total expenses paid to or on behalf of the governors during the year was £34,000 (2010: £7,000). This
represents travel and subsistence expenses and other out of pocket expenses incurred in attending governor
meetings and charity events in their official capacity.
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